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THE EDUCATIONAL DIRECTORY.

THE BIOLOGICAL .l_ABORIlTORY,

Located at Cold Spring Harbor, L. l.

CONDUCTED BY

THE BROOKLYN INSTITUTE OF ARTS AND SCIENCES.

In the Season of I897, the Laboratory will be open from

Tuesday, July 6th, until Wednesday, August 31st.

THE BOARD OF INSTRUCTION.

Prof. HERBERT W. CONN, Ph.D., Wesleyan University,

General Director of t/re Laboratory.

Prof. H. T. FERNALD, Ph.D., State College, Pa.,

Assistant Director and lnstructor in Comparative Embryology.

Mr. W. H. C. PYNCHON, Trinity College, Hartford, Conn.,

Instructor in Photography.

Prof. H. 5. PRATT, Ph.D., Haverford Col., Haverford, Pa.,

Instruclor in Zoology.

D. S. JOHNSON, Ph.D., Johns Hopkins University.

Instructor in Botany.

EDWARD L. RICE, Ph.D., Wesleyan University,

Assistant in Biology.

COURSES OF INSTR UCTION.

l. Comparative Embryology.

2 General Course in Zoology.

3. Advanced Course in Cryptogamic Botany.

4 General Course in Phaenogamic Botany.

5. Bacteriology.

Private Laboratories for Specialists and Advanced Students

(Open from June zoth to September 1-th.)

For further information, inquire of Prof. HERBER'l‘ W. CONN,

Ph.D., Director of the Laboratory, or of Prof. FRANKLIN W.

HOOPER, Secretary of the Board of Managers. Address, 502

Fulton Street, Brooklyn, N. Y.
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THE

EIGHTH YEAR B001<

OF

THE BROOKLYN INSTITUTE

OF ARTS AND SCIENCES.

FOUNDED 1824.

RE—CHARTERED 1824, 1843, 1862.

PRESENT CHARTER GRANTED IN 1890.

1895-6.

CONTAINING

THE NAMES OF THE OFFICERS AND MEMBERS,

COPIES OF THE CONSTITUTION AND BY-LAWS,

A BRIEF HISTORY OF THE INSTITUTE,

AN ACCOUNT OF THE WORK OF 1895-96,

AND A COPY OF THE CHARTER.

"For the People, by the People."

BROOKLYN:

Pususnnn av THE Iusrrru'ra.

1896.

\ .
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THE BIOLOGICAL LABORATORY.

[Located at Cold Spring Harbor, L. 1.]

BOARD OF MANAGERS.

EUGENE G. BLACKFORD, President.

Prof. FRANKLIN W. HooPER, Secretary.

A. AUGUsTUs HEALY. Hon. SETH Low, LL.D.

CoRNELIUs N. HoAoLAND, M.D. ]udge ADDISON BRowN.

OLIYER L. JoNEs, M.D. CHARLEs L. WooDnRIDoE.

Rev. LYMAN ABBOTT, D.D. Gen. ALEXANDER WEBB, LL.D.

Hon. DAvID A. BooDY. DAvID H. CocHRAN, LL.D.

Hon. STEPHEN V. WHITE. Hon. WILLIAM J. COOMBS.

HENRY M. MAcCRAcKEN. LL.D. TRUMAN J. BACKUS, LL.D.

Hon. JosEPn C. HENDRIX. WILLIAM STRATFORD, Ph.D.

JoHN H. J. STEWART. JosEPI-I H. RAYMoND, M.D.

ROBERT B. WooDwARD. FREDERIC MATHER.

LoUII s C. TIFFANY. H. MEssENoER AYREs, M.D.

CHARLES H. LEvERMoRE, Ph.D. Prof. J. MICKLEBORoUGH, Ph.D.

L. D. HUNTINoToN. Rev. GEoRGE D. HULST, Ph.D.

Executive Committee.

EUGENE G. BLACK1-‘ORD. ROBERT B. WooDwARD.

CHARLEs L. WOODBRIDGE. Prof. FRANKLIN W. HOOPER.

H. MEssENoER AYREs, M.D. Prof. J. MICKLEBORoUGH, Ph.D.

THE BOARD OF INSTRUCTION.

Prof. HERBERT W. CoNN, Ph.D., of Wesleyan University, General

Dzrector of the Laboratory, and Instructor in Comparative

Embryology and Bacteriology.

Prof. H. ’I‘. FERNALD, Ph.D., State College, Pa., Assistant Director.

and Instructor in Biology.

W. H. C. PYNCHoN, Trinity College, Hartford, Conn., Instructor in

Photography.

Prof. H. S. PRATT. Ph.D., Haverford College, Haverford, Pa., In-

structor in Zoology.
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D. S. JOHNsON, Ph.D., ]ohns Hopkins University, Instructor in

Botany.

EDWARD L. RICE, Ph.D., Wesleyan University, Assistant in Biology.

LOCATION OF THE LABORATORY.

The location of the Biological Laboratory, at the head of

Cold Spring Harbor, is one of the most favorable on the

coast. The country around is high and rolling, with abund-

ant forests, glens and small streams, affording most excellent

collecting ground for every form of animal and vegetable

life common to our climate. Just above the Laboratory is

a series of three beautiful fresh water ponds, each fertile in

forms of fresh water life, and through whichflows the water

of Cold Spring Creek. Just below the Laboratory is the

long and beautiful harbor of Cold Spring, divided by a sandy

neck into an inner and outer basin. The inner basin is par-

ticularly rich in marine life, and the channel between the

inner and outer basins has a most varied and vigorous

growth of algae, molluscs and echinoderms. The outer

basin has rocky projections, shallow flats, banks and eel

grass, sheltered pools, oyster beds, and other most favorable

conditions for collection and study. The outer basin opens

widely into Long Island Sound, whose shore is very varied

in character for twenty miles in either direction.

LABoRA'roRv AND APPLIANCES.

The facilities for Biological Work at the Summer Bio-

logical Laboratory of the Institute were materially increased

in 1894 by the erection of a new and commodious laboratory

building (36 x 72 feet), designed for the special purposes of

the school. The laboratory building stands upon a wharf

close by the water, and is provided with all the necessary

conveniences for summer work. It contains (1) a general

laboratory (36 x 40 feet), in which are located tables for

students‘ work, aquaria supplied with running fresh and
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D. S. JOHNsON, Ph.D., ]ohns Hopkins University, Instructor in

Botany.

EDWARD L. RICE, Ph.D., Wesleyan University, Assistant in Biology.
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The location of the Biological Laboratory, at the head of

Cold Spring Harbor, is one of the most favorable on the

coast. The country around is high and rolling, with abund-

ant forests, glens and small streams, affording most excellent

collecting ground for every form of animal and vegetable

life common to our climate. Just above the Laboratory is

a series of three beautiful fresh water ponds, each fertile in

forms of fresh water life, and through whichflows the water

of Cold Spring Creek. Just below the Laboratory is the

long and beautiful harbor of Cold Spring, divided by a sandy

neck into an inner and outer basin. The inner basin is par-

ticularly rich in marine life, and the channel between the

inner and outer basins has a most varied and vigorous

growth of algae, molluscs and echinoderms. The outer

basin has rocky projections, shallow flats, banks and eel

grass, sheltered pools, oyster beds, and other most favorable

conditions for collection and study. The outer basin opens

widely into Long Island Sound, whose shore is very varied

in character for twenty miles in either direction.

LABoRA'roRv AND APPLIANCES.

The facilities for Biological Work at the Summer Bio-

logical Laboratory of the Institute were materially increased

in 1894 by the erection of a new and commodious laboratory

building (36 x 72 feet), designed for the special purposes of

the school. The laboratory building stands upon a wharf

close by the water, and is provided with all the necessary

conveniences for summer work. It contains (1) a general

laboratory (36 x 40 feet), in which are located tables for

students‘ work, aquaria supplied with running fresh and
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salt water, and conveniences for lectures and class instruc-

tion; (2) six private laboratories, which were assigned to

persons who were competent to carry on independent work,

and who were, as a rule, engaged in special investigation ;

(3) a room equipped for and devoted to work in bacterio-

logical technique, such as making cultures, isolating species

of bacteria, etc.; (4) a room equipped with apparatus for

photographing purposes, including ordinary photography,

microscopic photography, and the making of lantern slides,

and (5) a working library placed at the disposal of the mem-

bers of the School. In addition, the students were furnished

with all the necessary apparatus, reagents, etc., for biological

work at the seashore. The Laboratory owns a launch pro-

vided with apparatus for the collection of material for labor-

atory work, and small row boats were at the disposal of the

School. Near by the main laboratory is a second building,

equipped and used for lecture purposes in cases where

larger numbers attend the lectures than the general labora-

tory room will accommodate, or in cases when it is de-

sirable to use the lantern for illustrative purposes. Through

the generous hospitality of the New York State Fish Com-

mission portions of the Fish Commission Building are

placed at the disposal of the School.

THE PURPOSES oF THE LABORATORY.

The objects of the Laboratory are (I) to furnish a place

for general biological instruction, and (2) to offer opportun-

ity for investigation to advanced students. The first object

to which the energies of the School are devoted is to develop

a first-class school of biological instruction for students who

feel the need of practical study at the seashore and of assist-

ance in their work. For this reason the school at Cold

Spring Harbor is especially adapted, first, to college stu-

dents who have not had extended laboratory work in Biol-

ogy, or who, having had biological work, desire to supple-
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ment this work with the practical study of marine forms in

their native condition, and desire to do this under the guid-

ance of instructors; second, to teachers or other students

who are desirous of obtaining a practical familiarity with

Botany or Zoology, to assist them in the work of instruction,

or in gaining a practical knowledge of general biology;

third, to medical students whose medical course is so

crowded as to make it impossible to include in it any

thorough study of biological principles and truths outside

of those having direct application to medicine. To such

students a general course in Biology proves very valuable,

and the work in Bacteriology is of especial advantage ; and

finally, the school offers facilities for investigation by fur-

nishing private rooms and collecting apparatus to any who

are desirous of carrying on research.

CoURsEs oF INsTRUcTIoN.

I. Comparative Embryology.—A course of daily lectures,

accompanied by a laboratory study of the types described.

This course is designed for advanced students who have a

knowledge of Zoology and desire an introduction into the

principles of embryology. The course includes an outline

of the embryology of the chief types of invertebrates, and

is a proper introduction to advanced work and original

research. Prof. FERNALD.

2. Elementary Zoo"logy.—This course is primarily a teachers’

course. It consists of daily lectures upon the chief types of

animals, and laboratory work upon the types studied. It is

intended for teachers who desire such training in Zoology

as will enable them properly to conduct zoological courses in

the schools for elementary students who wish an introduction

into the study of Biology, and for all students who desire

to supplement previous class work in Zoology with a study

of the animals themselves. No preliminary training is

required. Prof. PRATT.

G
e
n
e
ra

te
d
 o

n
 2

0
1

4
-1

0
-2

0
 2

0
:0

3
 G

M
T
  
/ 

 h
tt

p
:/

/h
d

l.
h
a
n
d

le
.n

e
t/

2
0

2
7

/c
o
o
.3

1
9

2
4

1
0

6
3

5
7

4
8

0
P
u
b
lic

 D
o
m

a
in

, 
G

o
o
g

le
-d

ig
it

iz
e
d

  
/ 

 h
tt

p
:/

/w
w

w
.h

a
th

it
ru

st
.o

rg
/a

cc
e
ss

_u
se

#
p
d
-g

o
o
g
le



257

3. Cryptogamic Botany.—A course of daily lectures, with

laboratory work. This course includes a study of the chief

types of cryptogams, and introduces the students by practi-

cal study to the important groups of tlowerless plants. De-

signed for teachers or students who desire a thorough prac-

tical knowledge of botany. Prof. JOHnson.

4. P/uzno_g'amz'c B0tany.—Instruction will be given in the

morphology and analysis of flowering plants to such as

desire instruction in elementary botany as a preparation to

teaching. Prof. JoHNSON.

5. Bacterz'olog_y.—This c'ourse includes a series of fifteen

lectures upon the history of Bacteriology, and is accom-

panied by laboratory work upon bacteriological methods,

such as culture making, isolation and characterization of

species, staining, study of water bacteria, etc. Designed

for medical students and others who wish a general knowl-

edge of this important subject. Prof. CONN.

Each of these courses began on July 6th and continued

for six weeks. In each course emphasis was laid upon lab-

oratory work rather than on the class room.

In addition to these regular courses, special instruction

was given in microscopic methods, section cutting, mounting,

etc., and also in methods of photography.

Evening Lectures.—A course of popular evening lectures

was given to the members of the Laboratory and the

friends of the School. These lectures were by the mem-

bers of the Board of Instruction and by a number of visitors

from various educational institutions, were illustrated by

lantern views, and the average number in attendance was

eighty-seven.

FACILITIES FOR ORIGINAL RESEARCH‘.

The laboratory has several private rooms designed for

persons engaged in original research. All possible facil-

ities for such work are provided. Collecting apparatus,
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fresh and salt water aquaria, microscopic apparatus, rea-

gents, etc., are provided by the Laboratory. Cold Spring

Harbor is excellently adapted for research of certain kinds,

especially for studies upon brackish water types.

Opportunities for collecting material for class work are

excellent. All members have free use of the collecting

apparatus ; but teachers desirous of collecting class material

are expected to furnish their own alcohol, since the Labora-

tory is unable to furnish alcohol except at duty paid prices.

The American Association for the Advancement of Science

contributed to the Laboratory $100, to be expended in pay-

ing for the use of private Laboratories for the summer of

1895. The two Laboratories assigned to the American

Association were occupied respectively by Mr. GILMAN

DREW, of Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, and Mr.

M. A. CARLTON, of the U. S. Department of Agriculture,

Washington.

Messrs. DREW and CARLTON were appointed by the

American Association to carry on original research at the

Laboratory during the summer. Mr. CARLTON's work .was

upon “Marine Algae and the Uredineae," and Mr. DREw's

upon the “Fresh Water Bryozoa." The results of the re-

searches of Messrs. DREW and CARLTON have been reported

to the American Association and will be published.

PERSONS ENGAGED IN ORIGINAL REsEARcH, 1896.

Prof. HERBERT W_ CoNN, Ph.D., Wesleyan University.

Prof. H. T. FERNALD, Ph.D., State College, Pa.

W. H. C. PYNCHON, Trinity College, Hartford, Conn.

Prof. H. S. PRATT, Ph.D., Haverford College, Haverford,

Pa.

D. S. JoHNsoN, Ph.D., Johns Hopkins University.

EDWARD L. RICE, Ph.D., Alleghany College, Meadville, Pa.

Mrs. H. S. PRATT, Haverford, Pa.
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THE FISH CoMM1ssIoN BUILDING, WITH OUTDooR AQUARIA IN FoREGRoUND.

Located near the Biological Laboratory, and used in part by the Students.

G
e
n
e
ra

te
d
 o

n
 2

0
1

4
-1

0
-2

0
 2

0
:0

5
 G

M
T
  
/ 

 h
tt

p
:/

/h
d

l.
h
a
n
d

le
.n

e
t/

2
0

2
7

/c
o
o
.3

1
9

2
4

1
0

6
3

5
7

4
8

0
P
u
b
lic

 D
o
m

a
in

, 
G

o
o
g

le
-d

ig
it

iz
e
d

  
/ 

 h
tt

p
:/

/w
w

w
.h

a
th

it
ru

st
.o

rg
/a

cc
e
ss

_u
se

#
p
d
-g

o
o
g
le



259

STUDENTS IN THE SEVERAL COURSES.

I.—STUDENTs IN COMPARATIVE EMBRYOLOGY.

C. T. BEERs. Catskill, N. Y., Student, Wesleyan University.

FRANK J. PowERs, Instructor, College of Notre Dame, In-

diana. _

Miss CORA H. SToNE, Middletown, Student, Wesleyan Uni-

versity.

II.—STUDENTS IN CRYPTOGAMIC BoTANY.

W. M. CHESTER, Instructor, Colgate University.

R. H. HoPKINs, Teacher, Cazenovia, N. Y.

C. T. BEERs, Student, Catskill, N. Y.

G. W. NoRToN, Middletown, Conn., Student, Wesleyan Uni-

versity.

Prof. H. S. BRADLEY, Professor, Oxford, Ga.

HENRY KQHBERGER, Student, Warwick, N. Y.

J. P. DRAKE, Teacher in High School, Stevens’ Point, Mich.

Miss LIDA HARKNEss, Teacher, Brooklyn, N. Y.

Mrs. R. L. PALMER, Brooklyn, N. Y.

Miss CoRA H. SToNE, Student, Middletown, Conn.

Miss M. A. HALL, Teacher, Granville, Ohio.

III.—STUDENTS IN PHENooAMIC BoTANY.

Mrs. LocxwooD DEFoREsT, Cold Spring Harbor.

Mrs. E. C. HENDERsoN, Cold Spring Harbor.

Miss M. B. CHAPIN, Teacher, Cold Spring Harbor.

Miss MARIAN W. WOODRoW, Columbia, S. C., Teacher in

State Normal School.

IV.—STUDENTS IN ELEMENTARY ZOOLOGY.

W. M. CHESTER, Instructor, Colgate University, Hamilton,

N. Y.

R. H. HOPKINs, Cazenovia, Teacher, Wesleyan University.
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Prof. H. S. BRADLEY, Professor of Biology, Emory College,

Oxford, Ga. '

Hmmv K01-mnum-3R, Warwick, Orange Co., N. Y.; Student,

_ Ohio University.

Miss M. A. HALL, Teacher, Granville, Ohio.

V.—S'rU1)ENTs IN BACTERIOLOGY.

Prof. ALVIN DAVISON, Lafayette College, Easton, Pa.

NELSON F. DAVIS, Instructor, Bucknell University, Lewis-

burg, Pa.

F. L. WING, Brooklyn, Student, Long Island Medical School.

FRANK I. Powaas, Instructor, College of Notre Dame, Notre

Dame, Ind.

TUITION, BOARDING AND ROOMS.

The laboratory fee for six or more weeks, including any

one course of instruction, the general lectures and the use

of laboratory privileges, is $2o.00, and for each additional

course, $5.0o. The private laboratory fee is $25.00 per

month, or $5o.00 for the season.

A new Dining Hall was constructed in the spring of 1895

for the accommodation of the instructors and students in a

building near by the Laboratory. Excellent table board

was furnished to all connected with the School at $4.50 per

week. . ,

A new ladies’ dormitory was constructed in the spring of

1895 for the accommodation of thirty students, and a dormi-

tory for gentlemen was added to the number of buildings

used by the Laboratory students. Both dormitories are con-

venient to the Laboratory, Lecture Hall and Dining Hall.

Furnished rooms in the dormitories or in the neighborhood

of the Laboratory may be obtained at rates varying from

$I.50 to $3.00 a week, according to location, size, etc. Where

two occupy the same room the expense of board and room

is from $6.00 to $6.50 per week.
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CONTRIBUTIONS FOR ORIGINAL RESEARCH AND

APPARATUS.

Subscriptions for the support of the Laboratory during

the season of 1896 were made as follows: Dr. OLIVER L.

JoNEs, $100; Mr. and Mrs. LOUIS C. TIFFANY, $50; Miss

JULIA B, DE FoREsT, $25; Dr. H. MESSENGER AYREs, $25 ;

Hon. SETH Low, LL.D., $25 ; Hon. ADDIsoN BRowN, $10;

Col. ROBERT B. WooDwARD, $1o.

THE WAWEPEX SOCIETY.

The buildings and grounds occupied by the Laboratory

are the property of the WAWEPEX SOCIETY of Cold Spring

Harbor, a Society founded by Mr. JoHN D. JoNEs, of New

York ; and whose purpose it is to promote the increase and

diffusion of knowledge in the Natural History Sciences.

Through the great liberality of the founder of the Society,

the generous action of the Society itself, and the active co-

operation and support of its members, the Laboratory build-

ings and grounds afford most advantageous conditions for

biological study and research.

THE SHINNECOCK HILLS SUMMER SCHOOL OF

ART.

This school is located at Southampton, Long Island, and

is established for the purpose of affording facilities to

students and artists for study and work at the seashore

during the summer months, at reasonable rates. The school

is under the direction of Mr. WILLIAM M. CHASE, President

of the Society of American Artists and Instructor in the Art

Students’ League of New York and in the Brooklyn Art

School. Mr. CHASE gives two days of each week to instruc-

tion and criticism, and the students work according to his

directions on other days. A Preparatory Class has been

established for the benefit of the less advanced pupils, and
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